ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JAN 17 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County

Honorable Thomas W. Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

AUSTIN MCQUARTERS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001814

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Kathrine H. Hudgins
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

In this trial for the armed robbery and assault and battery of John Snodgrass, the manager of a movie theatre, did the trial judge abuse his discretion in refusing to grant a new trial based on after-discovered evidence in the form of statements, taken after the trial, from another manager of the movie theatre that, two weeks prior to the robbery and assault, Snodgrass yelled at an employee of the theatre, Colton Delaplane, and in response Deloplane stated that he wanted to hit Snodgrass in his face and later confessed that he knew about the money but did not know that Snodgrass was going to be hurt so badly during the robbery?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In January of 2014, the Beaufort County Grand Jury indicted Appellant McQuarters for armed robbery and assault and battery first degree, indictments #2013-GS-07-1844, 1845. On July 20, 2015, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Thomas W. Cooper, Jr. This was a re-trial as the first trial ended with a hung jury. This second jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged. Judge Cooper sentenced Appellant to twenty-five (25) years for armed robbery and ten (10) years concurrent for assault and battery. On August 12, 2015, Judge Cooper reduced the twenty-five (25) year sentence for armed robbery to twenty (20) years. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on August 20, 2015. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 20, 2013, between 10:30 and 11:00 PM John Snodgrass, the general manager of a movie theatre on Hilton Head Island, was robbed and assaulted as he left the theatre with the bank deposit bag. (R. pp. 95-107). Snodgrass testified that he noticed a female in a small older Toyota and a six foot tall broad shouldered African American man crouched down by the driver's door. (R. p. 99, line 3 – p. 100, lines 1-6). The man approached Snodgrass and initially asked about movie times; then asked to borrow a cellphone, then asked for the time of day. When Snodgrass looked down at his watch, the man assaulted and robbed him. (R. p. 100, line 11 – p. 101, 102, lines 1-18).

Investigator Doug Seifert with the Beaufort County Sheriff's Department interviewed employees of the movie theatre who were working on the night of the robbery including employee Colton Delaplane. (R. p. 339, line 21 – p. 340, 341, lines 1-22). Based on the interview with Delaplane, Investigator Seifert obtained arrest warrants for Appellant McQuarters and Jacklyn "Brooklyn" Perez. (R. p. 343, lines 15-17). The investigator admitted that in his report he stated that Delaplane confessed that the entire robbery was set up by him, he was sorry and admitted that McQuarters gave Delaplane two hundred and fifty (\$250.00) after the robbery. (R. p. 364, lines 7 – 24). The investigator, however, testified that these were not Delaplane's exact words and explained that he was paraphrasing Delaplane when he wrote the report. (R. p. 345, line 9 – p. 346, lines 1-12). The investigator admitted that in the first trial that ended in a mistrial he did not explain that his report was his conclusion or a paraphrase and not Delaplane's exact words. (R. p. 366, lines 1-25). Delaplane was never arrested or charged in connection with the robbery and assault. (R. p. 345, lines 16-18).

Appellant admitted being at the movie theatre with a female on the night of the robbery but denied robbing and assaulting Snodgrass. (R. p. 357, line 9 – p. 358, lines 1-3). There was no forensic evidence linking Appellant to the robbery and assault. (R. p. 372, line 25 – p. 373, lines 1-25). Snodgrass was unable to identify Appellant in a photo line-up. (R. p. 122, lines 3-10). Both Perez and Delaplane testified against Appellant at trial. After Perez testified but before Delaplane testified these two witnesses violated the sequestration order. Appellant moved for a mistrial which the trial judge denied finding no prejudice. (R. pp. 209 – 225). Delaplane testified that he was working at the movie theatre on the night of the robbery and assault. (R. p. 294, lines 14-25). Delaplane testified that he saw both Appellant and Perez at the movie theatre that night. (R. pp. 295-296). Delaplane claimed that while he was working in the ticket booth, Appellant approached and wanted money from the drawer. (R. p. 295, lines 3-15). Perez admitted that she asked Delaplane, “Where is the bread?” but claimed she was referring to gas money Delaplane owed her. (R. p. 161, lines 4-21; p. 148, lines 13-19).

According to Delaplane, he again saw Appellant and Perez in the parking lot when he left work at 10:30 PM. (R. p. 295, line 21 – p. 296, lines 1-17). Delaplane claimed he left the movie theatre parking lot with his sister and girlfriend and went home. (R. p. 298, lines 11-19). Delaplane testified that about three hours later he met Appellant who handed him two hundred and fifty (\$250.00) dollars. (R. p. 299, lines 1-19). According to Delaplane, Appellant told him, “I ran into money at your work.” (R. p. 299, lines 14-15).

ARGUMENT

In this trial for the armed robbery and assault and battery of John Snodgrass, the manager of a movie theatre, the trial judge abused his discretion in refusing to grant a new trial based on after-discovered evidence in the form of statements, taken after the trial, from another manager of the movie theatre that, two weeks prior to the robbery and assault, Snodgrass yelled at an employee of the theatre, Colton Delaplane, and in response Delaplane stated that he wanted to hit Snodgrass in his face and later confessed that he knew about the money but did not know that Snodgrass was going to be hurt so badly during the robbery.

On July 28, 2015, six days after the jury returned verdicts of guilty, Appellant filed a motion to vacate conviction and order a new trial based on after discovered evidence. (R. p. 545 - Notice of motion and motion to vacate conviction and order a new trial). The State filed a response on August 12, 2015. (R. p. 547 - Response). The motion was based on information, not previously provided to law enforcement, from another manager at the movie theatre.

On July 24, 2015, the general manager who was robbed and assaulted, John Snodgrass, contacted Investigator Seifert of the Beaufort County Sheriff's Department and advised him that his manager, Chisti "Randi" Ross, had information indicating that an employee, Colton Delaplay, set up the robbery. (R. p. 540 - Court's Exhibit #1 – page 3). The investigator interviewed Ross and she provided a written statement. (R. p. 540 - Court's Exhibit #1 – pages 3-5). In her statement Ross wrote that on November 3, 2013, while working with Delaplane, he told her "I knew about the money but I didn't know John was going to get hurt like that." (R. p. 540 - Court's Exhibit #1 – page 5). Ross told the investigator that she did not provide this information to the police because she did not want to be involved in the investigation due to an unrelated criminal domestic violence incident. (R. p. 540 - Court's Exhibit #1 – page 3). Ross also told the

investigator that two weeks prior to the incident Snodgrass yelled at Delaplane. Delaplane told Ross that he wanted to punch Snodgrass in the face for yelling at him. Ross told the investigator that Delaplane stated, "If John ever screams at me in my face again, I'm going to punch him." (R. p. 540 - Court's Exhibit #1 – page 4). Ross was not called as a witness at trial.

On August 12, 2015, the Honorable Thomas W. Cooper, Jr. held a hearing on the motion to vacate conviction and order a new trial. Appellant argued that the statements of Ross about admissions made by Delaplane that he knew about the robbery, the prior incident between Delaplane and Snodgrass and Delaplane's statement about wanting to punch Snodgrass constituted newly discovered evidence requiring a new trial. (Aug. 12, 2015 R. pp. 499-523). The judge denied the motion for a new trial finding that Appellant failed to meet the first and fourth elements required to grant a new trial based on after discovered evidence. (Aug. 12, 2015, R. pp. 531 – 534). The trial judge erred.

In State v. Caskey, 273 S.C. 325, 329, 256 S.E.2d 737, 738–39 (1979), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

While a motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge, it is well settled that it may be granted only if the movant shows that the evidence upon which it is based:

- (1) Is such as would probably change the result if a new trial was had;
- (2) Has been discovered since the trial;
- (3) Could not by the exercise of due diligence have been discovered before the trial;
- (4) Is material to the issue of guilt or innocence; and,
- (5) Is not merely cumulative or impeaching.

State v. Fowler, 264 S.C. 149, 213 S.E.2d 447 (1975); State v. Wells, 249 S.C. 249, 153 S.E.2d 904 (1967); State v. Mayfield, 235 S.C. 11, 109 S.E.2d 716, cert. den. 363 U.S. 846, 80 S.Ct. 1616, 4 L.Ed.2d 1728, reh.

den. 364 U.S. 857, 81 S.Ct. 36, 5 L.Ed.2d 81 (1959); State v. Clamp, 225 S.C. 89, 80 S.E.2d 918 (1954).

First, the statements by Ross meet the second, third and fifth elements required for a new trial. The statements were discovered after the trial and could not by the exercise of due diligence have been discovered before the trial, as correctly held by the trial judge. (Aug. 12, 2015, R. p. 529, line 15 – p. 530, lines 1-9). The statements were not merely cumulative or impeaching. The statement about the prior incident and Delaplane wanting to punch Snodgrass in the face goes to motive, especially in light of the fact that the injuries suffered by Snodgrass were to his face and head.

As to the first element, the statements probably would have changed the result if a new trial was had. The first trial ended in a mistrial because of a hung jury. In the second trial, unlike the first trial, Investigator Seifert equivocated about Delaplane's confession that he set up the whole robbery, although it was included in his written report. As to the fourth element, the statements were material to guilt or innocence because the State's case was based on the statements of Delaplane and Perez and the fact that Appellant was at the movie theatre on the night in question and more closely matched the description given by Snodgrass.

The trial judge questioned why Delaplane would blame Appellant stating, "And I offer that for this reason, if Mr. Delaplane were making this up you would think that he would choose somebody other than a schoolmate, get a stranger or just create a straw person out there somewhere rather than point to somebody he knows and get involved in that regard." (Aug. 12, 2015, R. p. 531, line 21 – p. 532, lines 1-2). Appellant admitted being at the movie theatre and became a logical choice to blame when Delaplane and

Perez realized they needed to curry favor with the police in order to avoid charges of any kind for Delaplane and to receive a lighter sentence or reduction or dismissal for Perez who was charged with armed robbery. (R. p. 172, lines 11-15).

The trial judge also stated:

So, I don't think that the new evidence in that regard rises to the level of third party guilt as being inconsistent with the guilt of Mr. McQuarters insofar as the armed robbery and the assault and battery charges are concerned. As between Mr. Delaplane and Mr. McQuarters, Mr. McQuarters is the only one who meets the description and is consistent with the story Mr. Snodgrass and Perez said about him. So, finding that those two elements have not been met I must respectfully deny your motion to vacate the conviction and order a new trial.

(Aug. 12, 2015 R. p. 533, line 24 – p. 534, lines 1-10). The trial judge erred, as a matter of law, in applying the third party guilt analysis requiring the new evidence to be inconsistent with the guilt of Appellant. Appellant was not necessarily arguing that Delaplane was the robber. Appellant simply denied that he was the robber, as testified by Delaplane and Perez. In order to grant a new trial based on after discovered evidence the new evidence is not required to be inconsistent with guilt. The new evidence must simply be material to guilt or innocence. Based on the specific facts of this case, where the State's case was based on the testimony of Delaplane and Perez, the new evidence in regard to the prior incident and the statements made by Delaplane is material to Appellant's guilt or innocence.

In determining materiality in the context of the non-disclosure by the prosecution of a promise of leniency the United States Supreme Court in Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 153–54, 92 S. Ct. 763, 766, 31 L. Ed. 2d 104 (1972), wrote:

Thereafter Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S., at 87, 83 S.Ct., at 1197, held that suppression of material evidence justifies a new trial 'irrespective of the

good faith or bad faith of the prosecution.’ See American Bar Association, Project on Standards for Criminal Justice, Prosecution Function and the Defense Function s 3.11(a). When the ‘reliability of a given witness may well be determinative of guilt or innocence,’ nondisclosure of evidence affecting credibility falls within this general rule. Napue, supra, at 269, 79 S.Ct., at 1177. We do not, however, automatically require a new trial whenever ‘a combing of the prosecutors’ files after the trial has disclosed evidence possibly useful to the defense but not likely to have changed the verdict . . .’ United States v. Keogh, 391 F.2d 138, 148 (CA2 1968). A finding of materiality of the evidence is required under Brady, supra, at 87, 83 S.Ct., at 1196, 10 L.Ed.2d 215. A new trial is required if ‘the false testimony could . . . in any reasonable likelihood have affected the judgment of the jury . . .’ Napue, supra, at 271, 79 S.Ct., at 1178.

In United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 682, 105 S. Ct. 3375, 3383, 87 L. Ed.

2d 481 (1985) the Court wrote:

We find the Strickland formulation of the Agurs test for materiality sufficiently flexible to cover the “no request,” “general request,” and “specific request” cases of prosecutorial failure to disclose evidence favorable to the accused: The evidence is material only if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A “reasonable probability” is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.

Although the present case involves a motion for a new trial based on after discovered evidence rather than a Brady non-disclosure violation, the definition of materiality in these cases supports the materiality element of the new evidence in the present case. The new evidence went to Delaplane’s credibility and there is a reasonable probability that had the evidence been introduced at trial, the result of the proceeding would have been different. As discussed above, the first trial ended in a mistrial because of a hung jury. In the second trial, unlike the first trial, Investigator Seifert equivocated about Delaplane’s confession that he set up the whole robbery, although it was included in his written report. The State’s case was based almost entirely on the testimony of Delaplane and Perez and their


credibility was a critical factor for the jury to determine. The new statements from Ross regarding the prior incident between Delaplane and Snodgrass, the statement Delaplane made about punching Snodgrass and his admission are material to guilt or innocence.

The trial judge erred in refusing to grant a new trial based on after discovered evidence. The statements made by Ross would probably change the result if a new trial was granted, the statements were discovered after the trial, the statements could not have been discovered before trial by the exercise of due diligence, the statements are material to the issue of guilt or innocence and the statements are not merely cumulative or impeaching.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above argument, Appellant's conviction and sentence should be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial.