ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Thomas W. Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

JAN 05 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2015-001814

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT,

v.

AUSTIN MCQUARTERS, .....APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3922

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III  
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 1880.  
Bluffton, SC 29910  
(843) 255-5893

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

## ARGUMENT

**The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for a new trial based on after discovered evidence because Appellant failed to prove he acted with due diligence, the evidence was material to his guilt, or that the evidence would change the result of a new trial.**

Appellant argues the trial judge abused his discretion in denying his motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence because Appellant's statements to Ross satisfied all five elements of the test to determine the admissibility of such statements. The State disagrees with Appellant's allegation of error: (1) Appellant's alleged statements were inadmissible statements of third-party guilt; (2) he failed to file an affidavit showing he was unaware of the existence of the evidence or that he could not have discovered it by the exercise of due diligence; and (3) Appellant failed to prove the evidence was material to the issue of his guilt, could not have been discovered by the exercise of due diligence prior to trial, or that it would have changed the result of a new trial.

The United States Constitution guarantees a criminal defendant a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense. Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 324 (2006); Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683, 690 (1986). However, the right to introduce even relevant evidence "is not unlimited, but rather is subject to reasonable restrictions." U.S. v. Scheffer, 523 U.S. 303, 308 (1998).

In Holmes, the United States Supreme Court articulated its approval of the rule adopted by this Court in State v. Gregory, 198 S.C. 98, 16 S.E.2d 532 (1941), for the admission of evidence of third party guilt. Holmes, 547 U.S. at 328. In Gregory, this Court explained:

[E]vidence offered by accused as to the commission of the crime by another person must be limited to such facts as are **inconsistent**

**with his own guilt**, and to such facts as raise a **reasonable inference or presumption as to his own innocence**; evidence which can have (no) other effect than to cast a bare suspicion upon another, or to raise a conjectural inference as to the commission of the crime by another, is not admissible. . . . [B]efore such testimony can be received, there must be such proof of connection with it, such a train of facts or circumstances, as tends clearly to point out such other person as the guilty party. **Remote acts, disconnected and outside the crime itself, cannot be separately proved for such a purpose.**

State v. Gregory, 198 S.C. 98, 104–05, 16 S.E.2d 532, 534–35 (1941) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals addressed the standard to apply in State v. Burgess, 391 S.C. 15, 703 S.E.2d 512 (Ct. App. 2010). The Court specifically acknowledged the United States Supreme Court in Holmes rejected the analysis of State v. Gay, 343 S.C. 543, 541 S.E.2d 541 (2001), and instead, "specifically stated that the rule of State v. Gregory is the type of rule that does not deny a defendant his right to present evidence." Burgess, 391 S.C. at 23, 703 S.E.2d at 516-517 (citing Holmes, 547 U.S. at 328). In Burgess, the defendant sought to admit testimony the murder victims received threats related to their drug debts in the months leading up to their murder. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's refusal to admit the testimony because it was remote and was not inconsistent with Burgess' guilt. Burgess, 391 S.C. at 22–23, 703 S.E.2d at 515–16. The South Carolina Supreme Court confirmed the propriety of the Gregory standard in State v. Cope, 405 S.C. 317, 341, 748 S.E.2d 194, 206 (2013).

In State v. Jones, 185 S.C. 274, 194 S.E. 11 (1937), the Supreme Court set out five requirements a party must show to prevail on an after-discovered evidence claim after a criminal conviction:

- (1) That the evidence is such as will probably change the result if a new trial is granted;
- (2) . . . has been discovered since the trial;
- (3)

. . . could not have been discovered before the trial by the exercise of due diligence; (4) . . . is material to the issue [of guilt or innocence; and] (5) . . . is not merely cumulative or impeaching.

"A motion for new trial based on after-discovered evidence is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge." State v. Ivrin, 270 S.C. 539, 545, 243 S.E.2d 195, 197 (1978). The credibility of newly discovered evidence is a matter for the trial court's determination. State v. Porter, 269 S.C. 618, 621, 239 S.E.2d 641, 643 (1977) ("In [the trial court], not this court, resides the power to weigh [newly discovered] evidence"). "Only the trial court and not the appellate court has the power to weigh the evidence; the trial court's judgment will not be disturbed except for error of law or abuse of discretion." State v. Harris, 391 S.C. 539, 545, 706 S.E.2d 526, 529 (Ct. App. 2011) (citing Irvin); see State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 158, 508 S.E.2d 857, 869 (1998) (noting the granting of a motion on after-discovered evidence is not favored and reviewing courts will not disturb the trial court's denial absent an error of law or abuse of discretion). "In this post-trial setting, our jurisprudence recognizes the gate-keeping role of the trial court in making a credibility assessment." State v. Mercer, 381 S.C. 149, 166, 672 S.E.2d 556, 565 (2009) quoted in Harris.

When filing a motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence, it is "essential to consideration of [the] motion" that such motion be supported by an affidavit of the accused himself. State v. DeAngelis, 256 S.C. 364, 371, 182 S.E.2d 732, 735; also 23A C.J.S. *Criminal Procedure and Rights of the Accused* § 2037 (2016) (stating motions for a new trial must be accompanied by proof, "either in the motion itself or by affidavits"). "Unless a valid and sufficient reason for the omission to file such an affidavit is shown, the affidavit of the accused must show that he did not know of the existence of such evidence at the time of the trial and that he used due diligence to discover such evidence, or that he could not have discovered it by the

exercise of due diligence." Id. The affidavit must be from the appellant himself; an affidavit from appellant's counsel discussing these matters is not sufficient. Id.

In Mercer, the defendant was convicted of murder, armed robbery, and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. He filed a motion for a new trial based, in part, on after-discovered evidence. Id. at 165–66, 672 S.E.2d at 564–65. The newly discovered evidence was a letter from the cellmate (Fuller) of Mercer's codefendant, Thompson, claiming Thompson admitted to him that he shot the victim. In the State's theory of the case, Mercer was the triggerman, but Thompson's participation in, and first-hand knowledge of, the crime was known to Mercer and the State at the time of trial. The trial judge conducted a hearing and denied the motion for a new trial on the basis of after-discovered evidence.

The South Carolina Supreme Court upheld the trial judge's decision, finding no abuse of discretion. The Supreme Court noted Mercer had met four of the five requirements for the new trial, but had failed to prove the newly discovered evidence would probably change the result in a new proceeding. The only information Fuller's testimony provided was Thompson's identity as the triggerman. The Supreme Court pointed out Fuller had numerous credibility issues, including his own extensive criminal record and the inconsistencies in his story and the fact that another cellmate denied Fuller's account of Thompson's confession. Fuller's story was also inconsistent with the facts of the case, including: (1) a witness providing a description of the triggerman that closely matched the "much bigger" Mercer, not the "slender" Thompson; (2) the location of the murder; (3) the distance of the murderer from the victim at the time of the shooting; and other details of the crime. Given these numerous issues, the Supreme Court affirmed the trial judge's determination that there was "essentially no chance" the jury would believe Fuller's testimony.

### **Failure to File Affidavit and Due Diligence**

Initially, the State notes Appellant failed to comply with the procedural requirements of a motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence. Appellant failed to file a personal affidavit stating: (1) the facts to which Ross would testify; (2) he did not know of the existence of Ross's information at the time of trial; (3) he had used due diligence to discover such evidence; or (4) he could not have discovered the evidence by exercising due diligence. Thus, Appellant's motion was not proper for the trial judge's consideration. See DeAngelis, 256 S.C. at 371, 182 S.E.2d at 735 ("Unless a valid and sufficient reason for the omission to file such an affidavit is shown, the affidavit of the accused must show that he did not know of the existence of such evidence at the time of the trial and that he used due diligence to discover such evidence, or that he could not have discovered it by the exercise of due diligence.").

Without the affidavit or other comparable evidence, Appellant failed to demonstrate he could not, acting with due diligence, have discovered the evidence before the trial. Appellant and trial counsel were well aware of Delaplane's connection to the crime and his identification of Perez and Appellant to Investigator Seifert. In fact, trial counsel did his best to prove to the jury Delaplane was not a disinterested witness and was responsible in some capacity for the crime. Knowing this, Appellant failed to interview or even contact Ross, who was listed as a witness in the incident report. If Appellant had acted with due diligence, he would have contacted the listed employees to see if they had any information implicating Delaplane's guilt.

Additionally, there is some issue as to what Ross's testimony would be in a new trial. Neither Ross nor Investigator Seifert provided affidavits or testified at the motion hearing. Notably, Ross's claim that Delaplane made a comment about punching Snodgrass in the face is absent from her written statement to police and is only found in Investigator Seifert's typed notes

of the interview. Ross never claimed in her statement that she would not have revealed the information if questioned by Appellant or trial counsel. Similarly, while Investigator Seifert's notes state Ross did not initiate contact with law enforcement because of a fear of retaliation, he failed to give any indication that Ross would not have cooperated with Appellant or police if questioned about the crime. In fact, he noted Ross's reason for coming forward was that she felt very strongly that Delaplane should be punished for his involvement in the crime. If anything, the limited information available indicates Ross would have cooperated if questioned by trial counsel.

Accordingly, Appellant's motion for a new trial was improperly filed due to his failure to file his personal affidavit or any comparable evidence.

**The New Evidence Would Not Change the Result of a New Trial and Was Immaterial to Appellant's Guilt**

Assuming arguendo Appellant had complied with the affidavit requirement and adequately proven Ross would testify to hearing both of Appellant's statements in a new trial, such evidence would not change the result. The State notes Appellant's statements are inadmissible as those statements are not inconsistent with Appellant's guilt. Delaplane's two alleged statements to Ross were: (1) he knew "about the money," but was unaware the attack would be as violent as it was; and (2) he stated he would punch Snodgrass in the face if he ever screamed at him again. Admittedly, Delaplane's alleged statements do appear to indicate, especially considered in conjunction with Delaplane's trial testimony, that he may somehow have been involved in planning the crime.

However, the statements do not exclude Appellant's participation in the crime and do not challenge the trial evidence identifying him as the perpetrator. In fact, the trial evidence is wholly inconsistent with Delaplane being the actual robber. Snodgrass, who worked with and

knew Delaplane testified the person who attacked him was a larger, African American male. Delaplane is a smaller, Caucasian male. Perez's testimony is consistent with Snodgrass's and she specifically identified Appellant as the man who committed robbery. Delaplane's statements to Ross do not, in any way, contradict Snodgrass's or Ross's testimonies. Thus, Appellant's statements to Ross were inadmissible evidence of third-party guilt and the trial judge properly found the new evidence would not have impacted Appellant's conviction. See Cope, 405 S.C. at 341, 748 S.E.2d at 206; Porter, 269 S.C. at 621, 239 S.E.2d at 643.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.